FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/31/2025 10:35 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Case #: 1044101

Court of Appeals Division I No. 85858-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JESSICA MONTESI, Respondent

V.

BRANDON MONTESI, Petitioner/Appellant

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Carlos M. Sosa Sosa Law Firm PLLC 102 W Main Suite 301 Auburn, WA 98001 Attorney for Petitioner

Chelsea Scott Sterling Law Group 3708 14th St. Place SW Puyallup, WA 98373 Attorney for

I.

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Brandon Eugene Montesi is the Petitioner/Appellant herein, and respectfully prays of this Honorable Court to accept his Petition for Review of the Decision of the Cou11 of Appeals Division I Number 85858- 1-I filed on June 30, 2025 in this matter.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Petitioner respectfully requests that the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, under Cause Number 85858-1-I, filed on June 30, 2025, be reviewed by the Supreme Court of the State of Washington. A copy of the Decision of the Court of Appeals is in the Appendix at pages A-I through A-17.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1. The Court of Appeals Division I Erred by affirming that there were no violations of Appellant's Fifth Amendment Rights in the case below;
- 2. The Court of Appeals Division I erred by allowing the Appellant's Fifth Amendment rights to be violated by

upholding the provisions of RCW 9.41.801(9)(a) as dispositive of any self-incrimination concerns regarding the 5th Amendment. The Court of Appeals Division I erred by allowing the Appellant's protection against self-incrimination under the Constitution of the State of Washington, Article 1, §9 in violation of Article I, §9 prohibition of self-incrimination;

- 3. The Court of Appeals Division I erred by affirming the constitutionality of the 2019 amendment to RCW 9.41.801(9) which did not adequately address the self-incrimination violations of that section since there was no blanket immunity but instead a creation of layers of conditional immunity when blanket immunity would be the only method to avoid the violations of the Fifth Amendment and Article I §9 of the Constitution of the State of Washington;
- 4. The Court of Appeals Division I erred by affirming the validity and constitutionality of RCW 9.41.809(9)(b) regarding remedies and protocols in order for the Appellant to be able to invoke his 5th Amendment Right

not to incriminate himself, especially as to the realistic threat standard; the Court of Appeals Division I erred as the decision below also violated Article 1, §9 of the Constitution of the State of Washington;

- 5. The Court of Appeals Division I erred by affirming the validity and constitutionality of RCW 9.41.809(9)(c) which permits the prosecutor to decide, if they deem fit, to offer an immunity agreement tailored to the individual case, in order to address any prospective Fifth Amendment violation, also as to Article I, §9 of the Washington Constitution;
- 6. The Court of Appeals Division I erred by affirming the validity and constitutionality of 9.41.80 I (9)(d), which authorizes the prosecutor to be the only officer to offer and create that immunity agreement, which violates the Appellant's 5th Amend Right not to incriminate himself; the Court of Appeals Division I also violated Article I, §9 of the Constitution of the State of Washington;
 - 7. The Court of Appeals Division I erred in its opinion

stating the *State v. Flannery, supra*, was no longer instructive making the decision in the instant case, *Montesi v. Montesi*:

- 8. The Court of Appeals Division I erred in its opinion stating that the "Flannery Fix" made by the legislature was constitutional despite not resolving the issue of Fourth and Fifth Amendment constitutional violations;
- 9. The Court of Appeals Division I erred in concluding there were no constitutional violations of Appellant's 4th Amendment Rights against unreasonable and unlawful searches and seizure by requiring Respondents in civil Weapons Surrender Hearings to search their own premises for weapons;
 - 10. The Weapons Surrender Order issued by the trial court and the affirmation of that Order by the Court of Appeals Division I was error as to violation of the Petitioner's rights to be secure regarding their persons or property from unlawful searches and seizures;
 - 11. The Court of Appeals, Division I erred in rejecting

Appellant's Separation of Powers argument where the procedures of the statute as outlined violated the Separation of Powers argument between the judiciary, legislature and the executive branches.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This matter stems from a domestic violence protection order DVPO) filed by respondent. On May 27, 2022. Respondent obtained a temporary DVPO protecting her and the parties' two children. CP 13-20. As part of that order, an order to surrender weapons was issued without notice to appellant. CP21-25. A review hearing was also scheduled for June 16, 2022, to assess appellant's compliance with the weapons surrender order. CP 26-28. On June 14, 2022, Appellant filed a declaration of non-surrender. CP 31-39. When the parties separated in January 2022, appellant gave all firearms in his possession to a friend Mr. Krance, who stored those weapons in his personal safe. CP 29-30. Appellant's declaration of no surrender was appropriate, as Appellant then had no weapons to surrender. On June 14, Mr. Krance filed a declaration stating he had in his possession all of appellant's firearms since January 28, 2022. CP 90-92.

On June 16, 2022, the court held a weapon surrender review. At that hearing, the court ordered Appellant to surrender his concealed pistol license. CP I 07-110. The court needed additional information as to the firearms in Mr. Krance's possession. The court therefore continued the weapons surrender review to allow appellant an opportunity to surrender his concealed pistol permit to allow Mr. Krance time to provide an accounting of the weapons that he had in his possession. CP 119-120; 136-140. On June 28, 2022, Mr. Krance filed an additional declaration in which he outlined seven guns in his possession that he received from appellant in January, 2022. VRP (Resp. 6- 30-2022 pp 8-10). Jessica Montesi submitted a reply in which she stated her belief appellant still had multiple assault rifles, at least one additional handgun, additional hunting rifles, at least two 9 mm handguns, and a double-action revolver nicknamed "the Judge." VRP Ibid., supra.

The court held an additional Weapons Surrender Hearing on June 30, 2022. The hearing was held telephonically due to Covid restrictions. Appellant was present in his attorney's office. During that hearing, the court inquired about the guns that Respondent alleged were still in Appellant's possession. Appellant testified he did not have those firearms. When asked where those guns were, Appellant replied, "I do not know." At the additional weapon surrender hearing, the court inquired of Appellant whether he lost the guns. Appellant replied "I don't have those firearms. I don't know where they are at." VRP (Resp. 6-30-2022, p. 9, lines 5-25). The court asked appellant's counsel to clarify whether Appellant never had the guns or if the guns existed but he just did not know their whereabouts. Appellant's attorney replied Appellant did not know where the guns were. VRP Ibid., supra. See also VRP (Resp. 6-30-2022, p. 11, lines 16-23).

After the additional weapon surrender hearing, the court determined that contempt proceedings should be initiated due to

Appellant's failure to provide the whereabouts of the additional alleged firearms. VRP (Resp. 6-30-2022, p.14, lines 3-18). The court found Appellant's statements about not knowing the location of the missing firearms was not credible. At the additional weapon surrender hearing, the court specifically put appellant on notice he could face monetary sanctions if he failed to produce the missing firearms. The court notified Appellant that he could be subjected to incarceration if he failed to comply with the show cause order. VRP (Resp., 6-30-2022 p. 14, lines 3-18).

Per the court's direction on July 1, 2022, Appellant surrendered his concealed pistol license. CP 93. Mr. Krance also surrendered the guns he had in his possession to the Bonney Lake Police Depat1ment. CP 95. On July 8, 2022, the final order of protection was entered. CP 96-106. Appellant was ordered to surrender weapons. CP 96-106. A review hearing to assess appellant's compliance with the weapons surrender was set for July 14, 2022. CP 96-106. Under the DVPO, Appellant's visitation with his children was conditioned on his compliance

with domestic violence treatment for at least 60 days and Appellant's compliance with the order to surrender firearms. CP 96-106.

With the new DVPO, a new order to surrender and prohibit weapons was issued. CP 107-110. The order outlined at least 13 guns that needed to be surrendered. CP 107-110. The order set another compliance hearing for July 14, 2022 CP 107-110. On July 13, 2022, an amended firearm information was provided when the order was filed. The document explained the guns surrendered by Appellant matched the guns in Appellant's purchase history. The document indicated all firearms listed in the purchase history were accounted for. CP 107-110.

On July 14, 2022, another hearing was conducted. At that hearing, the court determined Appellant was still not in compliance as he still did not have any additional weapons to surrender. VRP (Resp. 7-14-2022, p. 27, lines 9-21; p. 31, lines 4-6.) The weapon surrender order indicated that while Appellant had turned over all firearms in his purchase history, the court still found based on Respondent's statement there should be

additional firearms to surrender. VRP (Resp. 7-14-2022, p. 28, lines 17-25; p. 29, line I).

On July 22, 2022, Appellant's counsel filed a motion for reconsideration. Therein, Appellant's counsel asked the court to reconsider its June 30, 2022 decision that appellant still had additional firearms, and referenced his prior statements in open court when referring to that on 6-30 2022 as further support for the Motion. Appellant's counsel argued any indication appellant had any additional guns came from Appellant's counsel, and not from Appellant. Appellant's counsel explained he misspoke and there never were any additional firearms. VRP (Resp. 6-30-2022, p. 11, lines 4-12). Appellant's counsel's motion for reconsideration was accompanied by a declaration of appellant's counselor, Dr. Richard Stride, who stated Appellant gets nervous and anxious when he gets confused, especially if things come at him too fast. Dr. Stride's declaration demonstrated putting Appellant on the spot to answer questions that were confusing, such as guns Appellant never had, could be confusing and could result in odd behavior.

On July 27, 2022, another compliance hearing was set for August 11, 2022. CP 77. In that order, the court recognized there was a pending motion for reconsideration and the court reiterated the guns were not accounted for. CP 77. The order also reserved attorney fees for respondent to be decided at the August 11, 2022 compliance hearing. CP 77. The court entered its order denying reconsideration on August 3, 2022. CP 119-120. On August 11, 2022, the parties appeared for the hearing. The court did not enter a ruling at that time, and instead ordered it would take the matter under advisement and would issue a written order at a later time. VRP (Resp., p. 52, lines 15-25; p. 53, lines 1-17). On August 31, 2022, another weapon sun-ender hearing was conducted and appellant was again found to be in noncompliance. In the August 31, 2022 hearing, contempt was indicated and appellant was ordered to appear and testify about at his weapon surrender hearing scheduled for September 15, 2022 CP 136-140. Appellant filed several additional declarations explaining how the guns in question never existed. Dan Johnson, a family friend testified he shot with appellant often and never saw any additional firearms other than those firearms that were surrendered. CP 191-192. Appellant filed an additional Declaration of Non-Surrender. CP 193-194. Appellant also filed a declaration from Devon Robinson, another acquaintance in which he explained why someone may have ammunition for guns they do not own. CP 188-190. Appellant also wrote an additional Declaration himself, explaining his position and why the court should find him in compliance. CP 165-187.

On September 16, 2022 Appellant appeared with new counsel. Respondent argued Appellant should be sent to jail for his non-compliance. The court did not issue a ruling at that time. On September 27, 2022, the court issued an order. CP 195-198. In that order the appellant was found in contempt. CP *Ibid*. The court explained the purge conditions were to account for the outstanding firearms and to surrender them to law enforcement. CP *Ibid*. The court assessed \$1,878 in attorney fees and sanctioned appellant \$300 per week for each week he remained

noncompliant. CP *Ibid*. The court another review hearing October 6, 2022. CP *Ibid*.

After entry of the September 27, 2022 order, Appellant filed another declaration of non-surrender indicating he did not have any additional firearms. CP 201-202. At the hearing on October 6, 2022, Respondent's argument to send Appellant to jail was again rejected by the court. On November 3, 2022, the court issued its order for the October 6, 2022 hearing. The order stated Appellant had provided no new information on the existence of the guns. The order directed Appellant to deposit \$5,000 with the clerk of the coult within 14 days. The order stated no further hearings would be held until Appellant took action to remedy the finding. CP 203-205. On January 18, 2023, Appellant filed his declaration and a receipt for three additional weapons he surrendered. CP209-10. Appellant explained while the parties were together, he stored several firearms for his grandfather in the family safe. CP 209-210. When the parties were separating returned those guns to his grandfather. CP 209-210. After Appellant's grandfather suffered a stroke, Appellant decided to surrender those firearms with the Bonney Lake police department with the hope that those were the guns to which Respondent was referring when she stated Appellant had additional firearms. CP 210.

After those documents were filed, the court set a review hearing for February 16, 2023, later reset for July 13, 2023. At a subsequent hearing Appellant raised the constitutionality of the surrender order under State v. Flannery, weapon Wash.App.2d 466, 520 P.3d 517 (2022). On July 20, 2023 the Court renewed the Order of Protection. CP 230-233; 234-235. Appellant's constitutional challenge was set for oral argument after briefing was exchanged on both sides before the Hon. Sean O'Donnell, and was argued on August 30, 2023 and September 5, 2023. On September 6, 2023, the court issued Findings of Non-Compliance. CP 203. That Order was appealed by the Appellant on October 9, 2023. CP 254-271. Oral argument was on April 15, 2025, with the Court of Appeals issuing its ruling on June 30, 2025, denying Appellant's request to declare the Weapons Surrender Statute unconstitutional. The matter is now before the Coult on this Petition for Review.

E. ARGUMENTWHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

(i) This Case Involves an Issue of Significant Public Importance that Should be Determined by the Supreme Court.

The issues under the fact pattern involved herein present a significant public importance regarding case the constitutionality of the Weapons Surrender Statute in the State of Washington. The statutes at issue and the protocols as currently in place violate the rights of a Respondent to the statute as to unreasonable search and seizure under the 4th Amendment of the United States Constitution. The Appellant/Petitioner respectfully disagrees with the assertion that the statute is constitutional as to the 4th Amendment and Article I, §7, §9 of the Constitution of the State of Washington. Similarly, the Appellant disagrees with the assertion that the Weapons Surrender Statute is constitutional as to the 5th Amendment of the United States Constitution, and Article I, §7 and §9 of the

Constitution of the state of Washington and the Separation of Powers doctrine. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (b)(4).

(ii) The published decision below in the Court of Appeals, Division I, Montesi v. Montesi No. 85858-1-1, 2025 is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division II, State v. Flannery, 24 Wash. App. 2d, 466, 520 (2022).

The published decision below is in conflict with the decision in *State v. Flannery, supra*, as more specifically stated in the briefing argument provided below. RAP 1 3.4(b)(2).

(iii) This Case Presents a Significant Constitutional Question under both the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States and Separation of Powers.

The published decision below, presents a significant question of law under the Constitution of the state of Washington, Article 1, §7; 9 and the United States Constitution regarding the application of 4th Amendment and 5th Amendment Rights of the Appellant, as well as to the violation of the Separation of Powers Doctrine between the branches of the Federal government. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

F. AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT.

(i) The Fifth Amendment.

Error is assigned to the trial court's Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Declare Weapons Statute Unconstitutional. CP 248-53, which has now been affirmed below in the Court of Appeals Division I.

The Fifth Amendment can be asserted in any proceeding, civil or criminal, administrative or judicial, investigatory or adjudicatory; and it protects against any disclosures which the witness reasonably believes could be used in a criminal prosecution or could lead to other evidence that might be so used." Kastigar v. United States, 406 U.S. 441, 444--45, 92 S.Ct. 1653, 1656 (1972). See, also, United States v. Bodewell, 66 F.3d 1000, 1001 (9th Cir. 1995). The protection against self-incrimination given by Washington Constitution Article 1, §9 is given the same interpretation as the protection given by the Fifth Amendment. State v Foster, 91 Wn. 2d 466, 473; State v. Wheeler, 43 Wn. App. 191,203. The court distinguished State v. Flannery, supra on grounds of the 2019 legislative amendment of RCW 9.41.801(9)(a), that the inclusion of immunity provisions addressed the self-incrimination provisions of Article I, Sections 7 and 9 raised in Flannery and by Appellant in this case. CP 249.

A closer examination of RCW 9.41.80 I (9) leaves serious doubt whether the 2019 amendment adequately addressed incrimination provisions concerns of Article 1, Sections 7 and 9. RCW 9.41.801 (9) (a) provides that the act of voluntarily surrendering firearms or weapons, providing testimony relating to the surrender of firearms or weapons, or complying with an order to surrender and prohibit weapons ... "may not be used against the person subject to the order in any criminal prosecution under this chapter, chapter 7.105 RCW, or RCW 9A.56.310, or in any criminal prosecution pursuant to which such order to surrender and prohibit weapons was issued " Orders under RCW Ch. 7.105 or

RCW 26.09 are not specifically listed in RCW 9.41.801 (9) (a). This raises a question how can a court grant immunity for orders that pertain to a part of the statute that does not specifically reference the afore mentioned statutes in the original statute from where this immunity grant is based never covered in the genesis language of the statute when originally passed. While the amendment may seem to create an immunity scheme such that one size fits all, it is not drafted in a way that creates a specific statutory immunity. Also, provisions in RCW 9.41.801 (9)(c) and (d), which involve the prosecutor as a gatekeeper and issuer of immunity fail to provide a blanket immunity that covers all scenarios under RCW Ch. 7.105 and RCW Ch. 26.09.

A party's invocation of their 5th Amendment rights is fraught with hurdles, whether at the first hearing, first receipt of temporary order, or at any other time throughout the adjudication process of the petition for order of

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