FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/9/2025 8:37 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 104410-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JESSICA MONTESI,

Respondent,

v.

BRANDON MONTESI,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Benjamin Gould, WSBA #44093 KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P. 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3400 Seattle, WA 98101-3268 (206) 623-1900

Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *Flannery*.

According to Brandon, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' decision here conflicts with *State v. Flannery*, 24 Wash. App. 2d 466, 520 P.3d 517 (2022). There is no conflict.

Flannery was a criminal prosecution for assault. *Id.* at 469. After charges were filed, the court entered a no-contact order, making it a felony for Flannery to own or possess firearms. *Id.* at 475. The trial court then entered a weaponssurrender order against him, and when he did not comply, the prosecution filed another criminal charge for noncompliance. *See id.* at 476. On appeal, Division II held that the weaponssurrender order, combined with the criminal prosecution for noncompliance with the order, violated the defendant's rights under the Fifth Amendment. *Id.* at 483–84.

That holding, however, applied an earlier version of the weapons-surrender statute that provided no immunity from prosecution: "The applicable statute here is *former* RCW 9.41.800." *Id.* at 472 (emphasis added). The statute has since been amended three times, *see* Laws of 2023, ch. 462, § 403; Laws of 2022, ch. 268, § 30; Laws of 2021, ch. 215, § 75, and now contains a detailed immunity provision, RCW 9.41.801(9). *Flannery* cannot control the interpretation of a new statutory provision that was enacted after it.³ "In light of the amendment of RCW 9.41.801," Brandon's "reliance on *Flannery* is misplaced." *Montesi*, 572 P.3d at 468.

Nor does the Court of Appeals' opinion here conflict with *Flannery*'s ruling on the Fourth Amendment and article I,

_

³ Kelsey Turner, "Why Many Judges in WA Won't Order Abusers to Turn in Guns," InvestigateWest (June 30, 2023), https://www.investigatewest.org/why-many-judges-in-wa-wont-order-abusers-to-turn-in-guns [https://perma.cc/S3P2-QF8S] ("State legislators attempted to clarify *Flannery*'s Fifth Amendment concern with a '*Flannery* fix' contained in recently passed legislation").

section 7. In *Flannery*, the trial court ruled that the former weapons-surrender statute violated the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 because it *also* violated the Fifth Amendment. 24 Wn. App. 2d at 477–78. Against this conclusion, the state advanced only one argument on appeal: the weapons-surrender statute was constitutional because a constitutional violation occurs not at the time of search but only "when the fruits of the illegal search are used against a defendant." *Id.* at 484. This argument assumed a constitutional violation and simply disputed its timing. This is the legal theory that *Flannery* rejected.

That theory is not at issue here, since Jessica, unlike the state in *Flannery*, has disputed the existence of a constitutional violation under the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7. More importantly, *Flannery* never addressed the question that the Court of Appeals decided here: whether persons subject to weapons-surrender orders become state actors when locating weapons in their own homes. And "[i]n cases," like *Flannery*,

"where a legal theory is not discussed in the opinion, that case is not controlling on a future case where the legal theory is properly raised." *Berschauer/Phillips Constr. Co. v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 124 Wn.2d 816, 824, 881 P.2d 986 (1994). *Flannery*, in short, does not address the state-action question here, much less conflict with the Court of Appeals' holding on that question.

Review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) is not warranted.

II. Because Brandon's constitutional arguments wholly lack merit, the questions of law he raises are not "significant."

Brandon also invokes RAP 13.4(b)(3), which provides for review of "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States." But there cannot be "a significant question of law" merely because (as here) a legal question has great *practical* importance to the people of our state. Reading the phrase that way would make RAP 13.4(b)(3) largely unnecessary, because RAP 13.4(b) already provides for review of "issue[s] of

substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). The word "significant" also modifies "question of law," a context that directs attention to the legal arguments raised. *See State v. Lilyblad*, 163 Wn.2d 1, 9–10, 177 P.3d 686 (2008) (meaning of words may be indicated by those with which they are associated). All of this suggests that a "significant question of law" must have some merit. And merit is a quality lacking in Brandon's constitutional arguments.

A. Brandon raises no plausible argument that RCW 9.41.801(9), the weapons-surrender statute's immunity provision, violates the privilege against self-incrimination.

The weapons-surrender statute provides immunity from prosecution in RCW 9.41.801(9). Immunity statutes like RCW 9.41.801(9) are intended to confer immunity "coextensive with the scope of the [constitutional] privilege," which then permits the immunized person to be compelled to give evidence. *In re Dependency of A.M.-S.*, 196 Wn.2d 439, 445, 474 P.3d 560 (2020) (citation omitted).

Brandon challenges RCW 9.41.801(9) under both the Fifth Amendment and article I, section 9 of the Washington Constitution, which provide the same level of protection from compulsory self-incrimination. *Id.* According to Brandon, however, RCW 9.41.801(9) provides constitutionally insufficient immunity from prosecution. This position has no merit.

1. Never having invoked the privilege or identified a realistic threat of incrimination, Brandon may challenge only the statute's self-executing immunity.

Generally, "a person must invoke the Fifth Amendment protections in order for them to apply." *State v. Warner*, 125 Wn.2d 876, 884, 889 P.2d 479 (1995). Witnesses seeking the protection of the constitutional privilege against self-incrimination must also establish some factual predicate suggesting they face a "realistic threat of self-incrimination." *State v. King*, 130 Wn.2d 517, 524, 925 P.2d 606 (1996) (citation omitted); *see State v. Hobble*, 126 Wn.2d 283, 290,

892 P.2d 85 (1995). Without this predicate, witnesses are typically not allowed to invoke the constitutional privilege. *Hobble*, 126 Wn.2d at 291.

Nowhere in the record has Brandon explicitly invoked the constitutional privilege or identified a realistic fear of incrimination—a failure that should limit the scope of his constitutional challenge. At most, he may challenge only the immunity in subsection (9)(a) of RCW 9.41.801, which provides self-executing immunity as to certain categories of crimes. *See* RCW 9.41.801(9)(a). Because this kind of immunity applies automatically to anyone subject to a weapons-surrender order, Brandon falls within its protection without having to invoke the constitutional privilege. *See Montesi*, 572 P.3d at 464.

But Brandon should not be allowed to challenge the second kind of immunity that RCW 9.41.801(9) provides. That second kind of immunity, governed by subsection (9)(b)–(d) of RCW 9.41.801, covers any crimes that fall outside the

categories listed in subsection (9)(a)'s self-executing immunity.

See RCW 9.41.801(9)(c).

Because only a prosecutor may confer this kind of immunity, RCW 9.41.801(9)(d), it is not self-executing, and Brandon may challenge it only after properly invoking the constitutional privilege. And, because he has failed to point to a realistic threat of incrimination that subsection (9)(a)'s self-executing immunity does not cover, his challenge should be limited to showing that subsection (9)(a) provides insufficient immunity as to the categories of crime that it enumerates.

2. RCW 9.41.801(9)(a)'s self-executing immunity is coextensive with, and hence complies with, the constitutional privilege.

An immunity statute complies with the constitutional privilege if it "is coextensive with the scope of the privilege." *Kastigar v. United States*, 406 U.S. 441, 449 (1972). This test is amply satisfied by the self-executing immunity of subsection (9)(a) of RCW 9.41.801.

Subsection (9)(a) provides immunity from prosecution for "[t]he act of voluntarily surrendering" weapons, "providing testimony relating to the surrender of" weapons, or "complying with an order to surrender" weapons. RCW 9.41.801(9)(a). This language provides immunity for any of the acts or testimony that a weapons-surrender order could require: surrendering weapons, voluntarily or not, *see* RCW 9.41.801(2); and providing sworn proof of compliance with a weapons-surrender order, *see* RCW 9.41.801(6)(a), (7)(d), (10), (12); RCW 9.41.804.

Subsection (9)(a) also confers "immunity from use and derivative use," which is coextensive with the constitutional privilege. *Kastigar*, 406 U.S. at 453; *see Dependency of A.M.-S.*, 196 Wn.2d at 446. It provides that the acts or testimony required by a weapons-surrender order, "and any information directly or indirectly derived from such act or testimony, may not be used against the person subject to the order" in certain criminal prosecutions. RCW 9.41.801(9)(a). This language

tracks the language of 18 U.S.C. § 6002, which also provides immunity from use and derivative use. *Kastigar*, 406 U.S. at 453.

Although subsection (9)(a)'s self-executing immunity does not cover prosecution for all crimes, it covers the kinds of prosecution most relevant to the subject of a weapons-surrender order. These include "any criminal prosecution under this chapter," i.e., chapter 9.41. RCW 9.41.801(9)(a). Subsection (9)(a)'s self-executing immunity hence covers, among other crimes, the unlawful possession of firearms (e.g., possession by someone subject to a DVPO). RCW 9.41.040. Subsection (9)(a) also covers "any criminal prosecution under . . . chapter 7.105 RCW." RCW 9.41.801(9)(a). Chapter 7.105 RCW governs civil-protection orders, including DVPOs, and makes it a crime to violate DVPOs. RCW 7.105.450. It may be relevant where, as here, a weapons-surrender order is incorporated in a DVPO. See CP 102.

Brandon maintains, however, that subsection (9)(a)'s self-executing immunity falls short because "[o]rders under" chapters 7.105 and 26.09 RCW "are not specifically listed in RCW 9.41.801(9)(a)." Am. Pet. for Review at 19. This argument is wrong.

Subsection (9)(a) expressly provides immunity against any criminal prosecution "under . . . chapter 7.105 RCW." RCW 9.41.801(9)(a). The provisions of chapter 7.105 RCW specify the criminal penalties for violations of orders issued under that chapter. *See* RCW 7.105.450–.460. Thus, if an order under chapter 7.105 RCW gives rise to criminal liability, that criminal liability will be "under . . . chapter 7.105 RCW," RCW 9.41.801(9)(a), and will be covered by subsection (9)(a). Subsection (9)(a)'s self-executing immunity, then, does extend to orders under chapter 7.105 RCW.

Subsection (9)(a) also covers criminal liability associated with orders under chapter 26.09 RCW, which governs divorce proceedings. The relevant orders are those contemplated by

RCW 26.09.050 and 26.09.060—orders that can include a weapons-surrender provision. See RCW 26.09.050(1) (citing weapons-surrender statute); RCW 26.09.060(4) (same). Any criminal liability related to these orders, however, arises under chapter 7.105 RCW. When a protection order under chapter 26.09 RCW is knowingly violated, chapters 26.09 and 7.105 RCW both make clear that the violation is a crime "UNDER CHAPTER 7.105 RCW." RCW 26.09.050(2) (capitalization in original); RCW 26.09.060(7) (same); see also RCW 7.105.550(1)(a). Because a violator of a relevant order issued under chapter 26.09 RCW is subject to "criminal prosecution[] ... under chapter 7.105 RCW," the relevant orders under chapter 26.09 RCW are covered by subsection (9)(a). RCW 9.41.801(9)(a). Brandon's contrary argument fails.

3. Even if Brandon's challenge could reach the other provisions of RCW 9.41.801(9), it would lack merit.

Even if Brandon's challenge could extend beyond the statute's self-executing immunity, it would be meritless.

First, subsection (9)(b) of RCW 9.41.801 allows persons subject to a weapons-surrender order to show that they need more protection than subsection (9)(a)'s self-executing immunity provides. Brandon objects to subsection (9)(b), claiming that it violates the constitutional privilege because it requires a *Bone-Club*⁴ analysis before courtroom closure. Am. Pet. for Review at 19–20.

But as long as Brandon invokes the privilege in an open proceeding, *State v. Rainey*, 180 Wn. App. 830, 840–41, 327 P.3d 56 (2014), an *in camera* proceeding in this context "would always satisfy" the five *Bone-Club* factors, *State v. White*, 152 Wn. App. 173, 182, 215 P.3d 251 (2009). *Bone-Club* imposes no burden on the right against self-incrimination. In arguing otherwise, Brandon creates a gratuitous conflict between the Washington Constitution's open-trial right and its right against self-incrimination. *See, e.g., State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570,

⁴ State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).

624–25, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995) (noting that the Court makes every attempt to harmonize the provisions of the Washington Constitution).

Second, if the subject of the weapons-surrender order does show that he faces "a realistic threat of self-incrimination ... not addressed by" subsection (9)(a)'s self-executing immunity, subsections (9)(c) and (d) are triggered. RCW 9.41.801(9)(c). Under subsection (9)(c), the prosecutor must be afforded a chance to extend immunity "narrowly tailored" to the kind of self-incrimination at issue. *Id*.

The statute does not limit the crimes that this immunity can cover. It requires only that the threat of prosecution be "realistic" and the immunity agreement "narrowly tailored to address any realistic threat of self-incrimination." *Id.* And that limitation is *at least* coextensive with the constitutional privilege, which extends only to a "realistic threat of self-incrimination." *King*, 130 Wn.2d at 524 (citation omitted); *see also In re Recall of Inslee*, 199 Wn.2d 416, 431, 508 P.3d 635

(2022) ("narrowly tailored" means "not substantially broader than necessary").

Nevertheless, Brandon contends that because this immunity "may only be extended by the prosecuting attorney," RCW 9.41.801(9)(d), it fails to provide a constitutionally sufficient level of protection. Am. Pet. for Review at 22. He is incorrect.

Whether or not a prosecutor decides to extend immunity, subsections (9)(c) and (d) of RCW 9.41.801 fully protect the right against self-incrimination. If a prosecutor extends immunity, the subject of the weapons-surrender order can, of course, comply with the order without fear of self-incrimination.

But if the prosecutor does not extend immunity, subsection (9)(d) ensures that the subject of the weapons-surrender order need not surrender weapons that may incriminate. "If the prosecuting attorney declines to extend immunity such that" compliance with the weapons-surrender

order would create a "realistic threat of self-incrimination," then "the court's order must provide for the surrender of every firearm, dangerous weapon, and concealed pistol license that does *not* implicate a realistic threat of self-incrimination." RCW 9.41.801(9)(d) (emphasis added). By stating that the weapons-surrender order must require the surrender of every weapon that does *not* implicate self-incrimination, subsection (9)(d) necessarily provides that weapons-surrender orders will *not* require the surrender of any weapon that *does* implicate self-incrimination. Brandon offers no alternative reading of this language.

There is no plausible interpretation of RCW 9.41.801(9) under which it violates the constitutional privilege against compulsory self-incrimination.

B. Brandon raises no plausible argument that RCW 9.41.801(9) implicates the Fourth Amendment or article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution.

The Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 apply only to state actors. *E.g.*, *City of Pasco v. Shaw*, 161 Wn.2d

450, 459, 166 P.3d 1157 (2007). So these constitutional provisions are implicated here only if the weapons-surrender order turns Brandon into state actor when he locates weapons in his home.

To determine whether private citizens are state actors, courts examine "the capacity in which a person acts at the time of the search." *Id.* at 460 (citation and alteration omitted).

Factors "[c]ritical" to this inquiry "include [1] whether the government knew of and acquiesced in the intrusive conduct and [2] whether the party performing the search intended to assist law enforcement efforts or to further his [or her] own ends." *Id.* (second alteration in original) (quoting *State v. Swenson*, 104 Wn. App. 744, 754, 9 P.3d 933 (2000)).

Washington courts have recognized that when someone complies with a law or regulation, the compliant person is primarily acting to avoid liability, not to promote governmental policy. Thus, for example, when landlords contract with a private party to perform a property inspection under a city

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